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PROLOGUE:
During the Cold War era, the KGB (the former Soviet Union’s equivalent of the CIA) ruled using cutthroat rings of highly trained intelligence operatives. During this period, the Soviet arms count was estimated at over 40,000 nuclear weapons. Due to a variety of serious political and economic issues, the leaders of the Russian, Ukrainian, and Belarusian republics met on December 8, 1991, in Belavezhskaya, Pushcha, to issue a declaration that the Soviet Union was dissolved and replaced by the Commonwealth of Independent States (sometimes referred to as Russia or the Russian Federation). This political revolution exposed the 40,000-plus Soviet nuclear weapons to corrupted black markets, rampant theft, and widespread distribution to terrorist nations. Leading up to the 21st century, the solution to this critical issue was the Strategic Offensive Reduction Treaty (SORT) between the United States and Russia. The SORT treaty stated that Russia would dispose of most of its nuclear weapons to avoid further exploitation and export to terrorist nations, thus illustrating its commitment to world peace. In addition to this arms crisis, the collapse of the Soviet Union included dismantling the KGB, which ceased to exist after November 1991.
Because of the breakdown of the Soviet Union and its KGB, over 250,000 skilled Soviet spies—strategically planted around the world—suddenly found themselves out of work. However, for many of the displaced agents, it was still business as usual, as many of those unclaimed 250,000 spies were children . . . an enemy invisible to nearly any defense mechanism.
Chapter 1
“Get in and get out. What do you think this is, some kind of game?” Devin snarled.
“I just thought—”
“I do the thinking. All you do is what I say,” Devin coldly replied.
Garret was silent. He looked into the boss’s cold eyes and saw no understanding, no mercy, and no patience. There was no compassion between the two men.
“In and out,” was Garret’s meek reply, but it was just an act. There was no fear in Garret’s heart.
“Take Teams A and F and complete the operation. You will signal Man 3 at 9:15 a.m., enter the facility at 9:18, expedite the operation exactly as planned, and exit at 9:21. Are there any questions, Mr. Garret?”
The boss’s tone told him there had better not be.
“No, sir.”
“Good. Team A will be waiting for you at the designated rendezvous point. The truck will be with them. Nightshade leads Team F at your signal. She already has the keys in her possession. Dismissed.”
“Yes, sir.” Garret turned to leave.
“Garret.”
“Yes?”
“One more thing. Teams A and F are to be totally oblivious to each other. Is that understood?”
“Of course, sir.”
_____________________________
“Sorry, everyone, the Pulitzer competition is now closed!” Dorian Valentine exclaimed on her way to work. Her exuberant voice drowned out the excited morning DJ who was talking about critical peace talks between the U.S. and the Russian Federation.
Valentine felt better than she had ever felt in her life. She was immersed in an ultimate mental and spiritual euphoria that flowed through her body like blood. She had awakened at 5:00 that morning filled with anxiety. She felt absolutely on top of the world while eating her breakfast of waffles and eggs. Valentine had smiled the entire time she brushed her teeth. She marinated in her own joyful bliss and couldn’t help but shiver as surges of her happiness tingled down her spine. Not even the sluggish traffic could break her mood. It was a beautiful morning. With the cumulus clouds scattered across the vast baby-blue sky, it looked to be a promising day.
She wove her giant navy-blue Expedition out of standstill lanes and into any lane she thought was moving an inch faster an hour. She cruised down Baltimore-Washington Parkway and passed the Fort Meade exit at about 30 mph in the congested traffic. The potholes and rough roads across the parkway and its exits did not bother her. She was far too excited. The only thing that was possibly missing from that morning was good sex. Valentine had no husband, no children, and had never been married. She enjoyed life as a single woman and had remained alone in her bed last night.
The soothing, relaxing rhythm from her favorite song, “Walked Outta Heaven” by Jagged Edge, placed her in a further state of enchantment. She sang out loud to the new hit song even though she didn’t know the words. But it didn’t matter, because Dorian Valentine had walked outta heaven. Not soon enough, it seemed, she was surrounded by the familiar city of Washington, D.C. She was still in a great mood, shouting and singing all the way to the Washington Post, where her status as a reporter had been “ordained,” as she liked to say among close friends.
She didn’t pay attention to the reports of the critical nuclear arms talks or the president’s momentous upcoming trip to Moscow to discuss the treaty. The collapse of the Soviet Union back in December 1991 had left the Russian Federation with the bulk of the massive Soviet weapons of mass destruction. This Cold War legacy had allowed Russia to retain its nuclear power status even as its economy collapsed. The burden of supporting and validating more than forty thousand nuclear weapons strained the Russian political and economic system. Russia's nuclear and missile capabilities then started to leak outside its borders to treacherous organizations and insurgent governments. This eventually led to the formation of the Moscow-based Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty (SORT). The SORT called for a severe reduction of all arms between the United States and the Russian Federation. Even to this day, in 2003, the remnants of chemical and biological weapons programs in Russia posed major environmental and proliferation threats worldwide. The SORT had been plastered all over television and radio like the OJ Simpson trial. Even when Valentine turned her television off, she still saw the nuclear arms reduction talks via osmosis. The world finally had a glimmer of hope for world peace from nuclear munitions. If the nuclear arms could be eradicated as outlined in the SORT, the arms would finally stop falling into the hands of terrorist nations and threatening the world’s livelihood.
As an “ordained” reporter, Valentine considered it her responsibility to let the public know what was really going on—one side was cheating.
As Valentine pulled into her parking space and shifted the car into park, the reporter on her favorite radio station began to discuss the progress of arms control the Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty had made.
The SORT Commission had turned into a powerful committee orchestrating the obliteration of all nuclear armaments worldwide. The Russian prime minister, Epifanii Yuklivitch, an ex-member of the former KGB, led this committee. The SORT Commission was notably the most politically influential organization ever in the way of eliminating nuclear threats worldwide. The majority of the members were from the two most nuclear-armed countries in the world, and if they couldn’t get along, there would be no world peace. If they fought each other hard enough, war would be imminent.
Valentine checked her beautiful ebony complexion in the rearview mirror as she turned off the ignition. She then pulled up the emergency brake and turned the key back a quarter inch to hear the radio.
“…and a breakthrough yesterday by the Washington Post puts the Moscow-based Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty Commission under serious scrutiny as the U.S. takes rapid steps to investigate the facts uncovered by Washington Post reporter Dorian Valentine.”
Valentine smiled as her name spun off the newscaster’s lips. She loved the sound of her name being called out for the public to hear. She wished she could somehow record this report and play it back for her own ears to savor again and again.
She remembered the time she spent the day shopping with her niece, Jamey. Valentine came out of the store’s dressing room to find that Jamey was gone. A moment later, her name boomed loudly over the intercom.
“Dorian Valentine, please come to the front of the store. Dorian Valentine, to the front of the store.” Jamey had opened the boxes of several toys and was playing with them in the aisle, blocking people from getting by.
“ . . .Valentine has allegedly uncovered the plans for construction of a Russian stealth helicopter with post-nuclear capabilities. The chopper supposedly has the ability to launch a devastating advance strike system from considerable distances and at the speed of light. This new weapons system, having nearly nuclear impact and almost pinpoint accuracy, surely tops any war technology that is openly being constructed in today’s critical defense market. In addition, Prime Minister Epifanii Yuklivitch, with his strong ties within the Russian government and his highly placed connections inside the Russian intelligence hierarchy, is assumed to have known about ‘Operation Black Fox,’ the secret production of this new Russian war machine. As the investigation begins, the free world holds its breath.”
Why didn’t they say my name again?
“She’s here,” a man inside a black Thunderbird with deeply tinted windows informed the others through his radio. Agent Steven Price watched as Valentine got out of her car.
“All right. Make sure she gets in safely,” Albert Plack replied on the same channel inside the building.
“The roofs have been checked for snipers, and the perimeter has been sealed off to any newcomers,” Price reported.
“After she is inside, seal off all exits. No one is to leave or enter until I give the word,” Plack instructed.
“Roger that.”
Valentine grabbed her purse and made her way inside the building, anticipating applause. She stepped on the elevator and received several congratulations from coworkers on the way to her floor. As she walked past the doors of the elevator, she received a standing ovation, and she welcomed it.
“Thank you, everyone,” Valentine replied.
“Dorian, some people are here to see you in the boss’s office,” said Frederick Carson, one of her coworkers.
“Pulitzer here already?” she asked him, smiling.
“They’re late,” he shot back with a smile while pretending to check his watch.
“Good morning, Ms. Valentine,” a stranger in a gray suit said, extending a hand. “Right this way, please.”
As Valentine shook the stranger’s hand, she noticed the grip was firm and that the smile suddenly faded from the man’s face. He stepped in close and locked his arm in hers. He then started to walk quickly, leading her to the editor in chief’s office and leaving her coworker with a confused grin. As Carson started after the man, a strong hand grabbed his arm tightly.
Carson looked back to see a decent-sized man in a suit similar to that of the man who had taken his coworker. A serious glance from the man told Carson, “Don’t even think about it.”
Inside the ambulance heading down Connecticut Avenue, there was no empathy. The vehicle was semi-crowded, but everyone inside was mentally focused and prepared for what the operation called for. No fear resided in the vehicle, and though the operatives inside looked like everyday citizens, this assumption could not have been further from the naked truth.
“All right!” Dennis Garret shouted with authority inside of the ambulance, looking his group—Team A, the superior of the elite—over. “We know the deal. Three minutes. I’ll call the clock through the channel in twenty-second intervals, and A-2 will second it. On my mark, we move.”
In a separate windowless van parked on a Washington side street, Kalisa Leonilla, known to her team as Nightshade, re-briefed Team F on the operation at hand.
“All right, take a good look at this picture,” Nightshade instructed, handing a photo to the team’s captain, Zlata Olimpan. Olimpan memorized the picture and passed it along to her teammates. “That is the man we want. Everyone and everything else is expendable.”
______________________________ - ____________________________
“What’s going on?” Valentine asked as she was hurriedly escorted into her boss’s office.
Her escort did not answer.
She looked around the office and realized her boss was absent. Taking his place were two men with hard looks on their faces, plus the one wrapped around her arm.
“Leave us for a moment,” one of the men spoke to the ruffian who had wrapped himself around her.
The escort quickly left, closing the door behind him, and stood sentry outside the office.
The usually cozy office now seemed like a dungeon—cold and unfriendly. Dorian Valentine stood erect, not intimidated by the situation at hand. She had been around men all her life, from her four brothers to her two boyfriends to the daily work environment at the Washington Post.
“What’s the meaning of this?” she asked adamantly. “Who do you think you are, putting your hands on me? I ought to pick up the phone and call my lawyer right now. You’d better start explaining some things before you encounter some serious problems.”
“Sit down, Dorian,” one of the men said.
“I’m fine standing.”
“Very well then,” was the reply.
Valentine suspected the men already considered themselves greater than her because of her gender. The way they spoke and the way they looked betrayed their chauvinism. Their body language spoke louder than words. Then there was race to consider—two white males to one black female. If she sat down while they stood, they might feel like the president.
“Who are you?” Valentine asked.
“I think we’ll ask the questions here, Ms. Valentine,” one of the men replied.
“Really,” Valentine asked, wide-eyed with a sarcastic twist. She was taken aback by the man’s arrogance. She looked him up and down, and then she decided to give his self-confidence a small test. Anybody can talk down to a woman in front of his buddies. She looked down at his spotless shoes for several moments without speaking. Sure enough, the arrogant man looked down at his shoes. While trying to be discreet, he studied them intensely before looking up.
“Ms. Valentine, we are from the CIA,” he continued.
Valentine made a freakish disgusted face while still looking down at the man’s shoes.
The man then stopped talking and looked down at his shoes without trying to be incognito. He checked the left and right sides of both shoes while Valentine kept the same twisted look on her face.
Finally satisfied, she took her eyes off his shoes and looked up. “I’m sorry, what were you saying?” You insecure prick. Gotcha.
“I am the Deputy Director of Intelligence, and this is Franklin Turner from the Public and Agency Information Department.” You think you’re funny don’t you?
“What is this all about?” You still didn’t tell me your name, Arrogant. Valentine looked the two men over carefully. Franklin hadn’t said a word yet, but he looked like he hadn’t come down here for chitchat. Franklin looked to be in his late forties. He had some gray hair he was not trying to hide and wore an ugly tie that attempted to complement his navy-blue suit. His skin had no wrinkles, and it looked like he hadn’t really lived a hard life. Neither of the men’s suits had wrinkles, but Valentine could tell both men had taken a trip to be there.
Mr. Arrogant looked to be in his late fifties. He had more gray hair than Franklin, and he had bags under his eyes even though he was wide awake. He had a saggy face like her varsity basketball coach in high school. His tie was better than Frankie’s, but she didn’t like either man. She looked at the small, funny-looking antenna on her boss’s desk, then realized it was one of those electronic scramblers that made sure no one was listening in who wasn’t supposed to…but she wasn’t supposed to know that.
“This is about the article you wrote that is printed in this morning’s paper,” Arrogant stated. “I’m sure you know you’ve created absolute congressional pandemonium.”
“Just doing my job—and what was your name?”
“Albert Plack, Deputy Director of Intelligence.”
“You said your position already.” Was he restating his position to gain some psychological advantage over me?
Valentine had already learned that a title meant nothing.
“Anyway, I’m sure you know the article written this morning is quite significant, considering the Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty with our president and Russia’s Prime Minister.”
“I am aware of the talks, Mr. Plack, and that’s all it is to me, just talk.”
“Your personal opinions are irrelevant in this matter. You have absolutely no idea what you have done. For us to try and rectify this situation, we need some things from you. Number one, we want to know your source for this article.”
“You know I don’t have to do that. I know my rights as a reporter.”
“Number two, we want the plans you supposedly have possession of for the helicopter.”
“There is no ‘supposedly’ about it. The plans exist.” Damn, spoke too soon.
“Three, we want your full cooperation in verifying the actual production of the chopper, if it has passed the planning stage.”
“The helicopter has indeed passed the planning stage and is already being constructed,” Valentine replied. “I wouldn’t have broken the story if I didn’t have evidence. Nor would the editor in chief permit the story to be printed if sufficient evidence had not been furnished. This is the Washington Post, not the National Inquisitor, Mr. Plack.”
“Where, exactly, might Operation Black Fox be taking place, Ms. Valentine?” Plack asked.
“You’re Deputy Director of Intelligence. You tell me,” Valentine responded.
“Do you know who you’re talking to?” Plack asked.
“Albert Plack, Deputy Director of Intelligence.”
Franklin Turner wanted to laugh out loud but, out of respect, hardly flinched. Valentine noticed it.
_____________________________-_______________________________
Garret’s synchronized watch read 9:15 a.m. “Man 3, move. Team F follows.”
__________________________________-_________________________________
Turner cut in. “Hold on. Look, Dorian, I’d really appreciate your help in this matter. This is a serious issue, and the public is eating it up. Relations between the Russian Federation and the United States are shattered until we can get to the bottom of this Operation Black Fox issue. I need to know exactly what you know. I don’t care where you got it. I need the plans and some kind of proof that the helicopter is actually being constructed. I need a picture, a witness, and a location, something concrete to go on. This is a matter of national security, and your safety might very well be in danger. If you help us, we can help you. Do we have a deal?”
Valentine liked Frankie. His tie looked a little better now. “I’ll help you as much as I can without revealing my source.”
“Excellent. First order, where are the helicopter plans?”
“The same place everything of value is kept in heavy news-breaking articles such as this one; in the—”
Valentine was cut off by the sounds of terrified screams coming from outside.
“Get down!” Turner yelled to Valentine. Plack drew his piece.
Automatic gunfire was heard over the screams, followed by shattering glass and chaos.
In the back of the Washington Post building, a university hospital ambulance backed into the service entrance. In four seconds, Team A was inside the building, suited in Washington, D.C. police uniforms. Every one of them had memorized the public record blueprints of the Washington Post building. This allowed them to maneuver toward their destinations without arousing suspicion. All four men sprinted rapidly around corners and through corridors with ease, as if they were in their own homes.
“Police business!” yelled Vladimir Yakof, otherwise known as A-2. He flashed a badge at any curious passersby.
Iake Tatomir, also called A-5, stopped as planned in one of the side corridors, to prevent service staff or any nosy reporters from following his team.
All members of the elite Team A were men—five of the world’s best-kept secrets, groomed since youth in the most advanced training grounds available. Three of them did not stop sprinting for even a second. The fifth one, the leader, had been given a separate, solo agenda this round.
“Twenty,” Garret muttered in the tiny microphone latched into his right sleeve. The transmitter on his left sleeve was channeled to a frequency that, other than Nightshade, only Team A would pick up.
A-2 heard the clock through his earpiece and, as briefed, repeated the count for the team, “Twenty!”
Upstairs in the main area, Nightshade squeezed off 22 rounds per second around the room with a new highly advanced, fully automatic rifle, the TH-7000.
“Everyone get your heads down!” Zlata Olimpan yelled.
Reporters scrambled to the floor like children playing hide-and-seek. All of Team F wore deep-black combat uniforms. Their head coverings consisted of protective plastic masks that matched their black combat boots. The masks resembled gas masks but served far more than one purpose, as they were equipped with several functions. They looked odd, like the heads of fierce, giant insects. Each team member moved quickly and with precision, all the while unceasingly scanning the environment.
Nightshade squeezed off more shots as smoking shells poured out of the weapon.
“Twenty!” Olimpan yelled. “If I see anyone move, they will die!” She raised two large, unique-looking, handheld, fully automatic pistols and shot around the room. Though Olimpan did not take her hands off either trigger, the bullets came out in loud bursts. “Ratatattat . . . ratatattat.”
Oleg Lugor, or Man 3 for this mission, sprinted up the stairs to the roof with a long duffel bag. Like the rest of his team, he was dressed as a police officer. He hadn’t expected to see anyone, but there was an agent on the roof. What the agent was doing, Lugor didn’t know, nor did he care.
The agent yelled, “This is a restricted area, officer! You’re going to have to go back down from here—now!”
Lugor yelled back, “Quick, come down here! There’s some shooting downstairs in the main room!”
The agent began to run down the steps, and Lugor stepped aside to let him go through the door first. When the agent reached the third step from the bottom, Lugor leaped off the steps and curled himself into a ball in midair, feet facing forward. While still in the air, he quickly extended his legs and slammed both feet into the agent’s back.
His mind flashed back for an instant to his defensive drill instructor, Sergeant Kiev. “Make every blow count,” Kiev had shouted at the nine-year-old Lugor as his young body wrestled a ferocious pit bull. Blood had been everywhere, and his adrenalin pumped so hard that he couldn’t tell whether the blood was his or the animal’s. He had become used to blood by that time. It was like seeing water.
The agent’s back cracked from the blow as he crashed into the wall. Before he could put his hands out to stop the impact, his skull had cracked against the wall. The agent crumpled to the ground as crimson fluid rapidly oozed from his nose, mouth, and head.
Lugor stooped over him and, with both hands, snapped his neck. In three strides, Lugor was back up on the roof.
Lugor closed his eyes, opened his long sack, and pulled out a TH–7000. With his eyes still closed, he set up the weapon on its tripod. Continuing self-blinded, he screwed on the sights and slid in the magazine.
“Forty,” Garret muttered to his wrist.
“Forty!” A-2 repeated to Team A.
“Forty!” Olimpan repeated for Team F.
“Man 3, report status,” Garret said.
“Man 3 in position. Repeat, bird tower secure.”
Impressive, Garret thought. Forty seconds.
Team A approached the vault and activated plastic explosives. After five seconds, the door was opened and all four men began tearing everything apart, searching.
Upstairs, Nightshade held several hostages and felt pity for those on Team F who were looking for the man in the photo shown during the briefing. The man in the photo was an American who had died over a decade ago.
“I know there are federal agents in this building!” Olimpan shouted. “If one of you even attempts to get a promotion this morning, you will die, as will three hostages for each attempt. Don’t try us!”
Olimpan sprayed more shots out of her Rex-329 fully automatic pistols. Everyone hugged the floor and covered their heads.
“Sixty!” she yelled as the slide from both of her pistols remained positioned back, signaling both guns were empty.
As Olimpan attempted to slide another cartridge into her gun, a man tackled her. She went flying into a wooden desk, scattering papers everywhere. She grunted as the man attempted to wrestle the gun from her. Olimpan let the man roll on top of her and, with her legs, raised his body as far away from herself as she could.
Without a word, Nightshade pointed her automatic rifle at the hero and squeezed the trigger once. The TH-7000 automatic rifle emitted a loud, high-pitched squeal and a bright light as eleven rounds drove themselves into the man's body in half a second. The man contorted in pain as Olimpan quickly rolled him off of her and onto the floor.
“That was very stupid, hero,” she said, watching him die.
Garret turned up his police radio frequency to hear how much time he had.
There had been several reports of shots fired, yet so far, only three or four units had been dispatched. With Lugor up there, that was cake.
“Team A, report,” Garret instructed.
“Negative,” was the reply.
“One hundred,” Garret informed the operatives.
Dorian Valentine huddled behind the desk in her boss’s office. Franklin Turner and Albert Plack crept to either side of the door with their pistols drawn and ready. Plack counted to three, opened the door, and started blasting. One of his bullets grazed Nightshade’s bulletproof armor. The impact knocked her off balance and into a desk, then onto the floor. Team F stopped looking for the target and started firing at Plack. Nightshade recovered almost instantly and quickly executed three hostages as promised for Plack's interference.
“Okay, I surrender!” Plack shouted. “Stop killing innocent people!”
Nightshade silenced Plack with the TH-7000.
“One twenty!” Olimpan reported.
Outside, sirens were heard close by. From his position, Lugor could see all four units coming to save the day.
“Here comes the cavalry,” he mumbled to himself as he got out his second tripod. Closing his eyes again for another challenge, he set up his newly developed dual-cannon missile launcher in twenty seconds.
“One forty,” Garret informed both teams.
“Man 3 to Iceman,” Lugor called to Garret through his wrist radio.
“I read, Man 3. Proceed.”
“I see four approaching units,” Lugor said, looking through his Hawk LX2, a pair of giant, high-tech binoculars. Lugor appreciated how advanced they were but did not like their dreary pine-green color, nor did he like that he was almost forced to hold them with both hands because of their irregular, gargantuan size. What he did like was that with these binoculars, he could record, save, alter, and play back what he saw, as well as upload the images to a computer. With his index finger, he pressed the T-sights button. As his finger pressed the button, the image zoomed in on the lead car. During the next second, with his middle finger, he depressed the Clean button, which clarified the image. Even though the vehicle was six blocks away, the view of the two drivers in the lead car was suddenly, right before Lugor’s eyes, crystal clear.
“Lead car, two Caucasian males, about six blocks away. Estimated time of arrival: one minute.”
“Proceed as planned. Operate in Code Blue,” Garret instructed.
“Copy, Iceman.”
In so many words, Code Blue meant to use the dual-cannon Eagle HSK-9500 anti-tank rocket launcher. Lugor already had it set up on the tripod. One of the most advanced armor-piercing weapons in existence around the world was at his fingertips.
“One sixty,” Garret stated.
“One sixty!” Yakof informed Team A.
“One sixty!” Olimpan informed Team F.
“Team A, report status.”
“Negative,” Yakof replied.
What the hell is taking so long? Garret wondered from inside the van.
“Iceman to Nightshade, I need more time,” Garret informed Nightshade. Things were taking longer than expected.
“Copy,” Nightshade replied to Garret.
“Team F, Code Blue,” Garret instructed Team F.
In response, Team F removed the gas bombs from their combat uniforms and activated them. The room was soon filled with thick green smoke.
“Dorian Valentine!” Nightshade called out as the smoke continued to spread. She had an electronic audio voice tuner in the mouthpiece of her mask, as did Olimpan. Her voice sounded raspy and inhuman, but nevertheless, untraceable indeed. Nightshade shifted her TH-7000 to her side by rotating her right arm and allowed the rifle strap to bear the weight of the high-powered automatic weapon. She then pulled out a small odd-looking pistol, a Vig-6.
Valentine heard her name called but remained still, cradling herself behind the office desk.
“Dorian Valentine!” Nightshade repeated while activating the smoke vision function on her mask. She could now see through the green smoke. She saw no movement.
“Dorian Valentine!”
Under normal circumstances, Valentine loved to hear her name called out to the public, but she now prayed not to hear it again.
Nightshade walked through the thick smoke, past the choking workers gasping for air, and stepped into the office, which was only partially infiltrated by the smoke. With her goggles on, Nightshade’s peripheral vision was impaired as she entered the office. Before she saw him crouched beside the doorway, Franklin Turner tossed himself upon her.
Nightshade did not scream. Garret could not hear the struggle going on in the room, as the CIA’s electronic scrambler was still activated. After a moment, Garret realized he no longer heard Nightshade calling out Valentine’s name.
“F-4, check on Nightshade and neutralize any resistance she has encountered.”
Hearing his code, Aleksander Straz made his way through the crowd toward the office and saw Nightshade standing over Frank Turner’s dead body with the Vig-6 in hand. Though Turner had let out no scream and there was no blood, Nightshade did not bother to check his pulse. She knew he was no longer among the living.
“Counter neutralized,” F-4 reported.
“One eighty,” Garret announced.
“One eighty!” Yakof informed Team A.
“One eighty!” Olimpan informed Team F.
“Team A, report status.”
“Negative, Iceman.”
“Man 3, report,” Garret said.
“Lead car approximately twenty seconds from perimeter,” Lugor reported.
“Dorian Valentine!” Nightshade called out once again.
“The egg is captured,” Yakof reported through his wrist. “Repeat. The operation is now positive.”
“Team A, the operation is now positive. Man 3, stay in position,” Garret directed.
“Dorian Valentine!” Nightshade repeated.
Valentine couldn’t hold it any more. The gas had seared her lungs far beyond the point any human could tolerate. Although closed, her eyes burned as if they were on fire. She gasped loudly for air behind the desk, and when she opened her eyes, Nightshade was standing above her with the Vig-6.
“Dorian Valentine, please stand up.”
Valentine slowly got to her feet. It was her final mistake. Nightshade looked Valentine in the eye and fired the Vig-6 without hesitation. Valentine suddenly felt a painful, electrifying sensation throughout her body. She died instantly, before her mind could fully process the agony.
“Two hundred,” Garret reported.
“Two hundred!” Yakof informed Team A.
“Two hundred!” Olimpan informed Team F.
“Team A, report status.”
“Coming home, Iceman,” Yakof replied.
“Man 3, report.”
“Lead car approaching perimeter with a tail. Other two units about 120 seconds from perimeter,” Lugor reported.
“Neutralize the lead two cars and come home. You have 60 seconds.”
Too much time, Lugor thought. I need a challenge.
“Nightshade, report.”
“Target is eliminated. I’m coming home,” she replied.
Lugor peered through the scope of his HSK-9500. He locked the rocket in the left cannon on the lead car and then locked the right rocket on its tail. In a moment, both sensors flashed green, indicating each heat source was locked on. He looked behind himself every ten seconds, while remembering the words of Sergeant Kiev: Always remember to check six. What’s behind you could change significantly in six seconds with no sound. Ears are clumsy. Eyes work better in open area daylight.
Lugor pulled the extension back, pulled the left and right latches back, and then pressed the fire panel, simultaneously firing both rockets. They cruised through the air at over 800 mph, twisting and leaving a trail of white smoke as they raced toward their unsuspecting targets. While the rockets soared toward the vehicles, Lugor was busy taking the tripods down and putting his arsenal away.
Kaboom! The rocket launched from the left cannon hit the lead car. The first explosion covered up the second one moderately, creating a big cloud of orange and black. The two cars following behind the targets saw the explosion and screeched to a halt. After witnessing his handiwork, Lugor finished packing up and headed downstairs.
“Two twenty,” Garret reported.
“Two twenty!” Yakof informed Team A.
“Two twenty!” Olimpan informed Team F.
Team A, with the exception of Man 3, jumped into the van and stripped off their uniforms. A moment later, Nightshade stepped inside and removed her mask and goggles. A-2 handed the helicopter plans to Garret, who promptly examined them.
“It can’t be,” Garret whispered to no one in particular, looking at the plans.
“What’s the problem?” Nightshade asked.
“It’s the AVLIS prototype,” Garret mumbled. “God help us all.”
“The what?” Nightshade asked. “And you know I don’t believe in God.”
“This is serious Doomsday business. Way beyond Hiroshima.”
“Sounds major. Where is Oleg?” Nightshade asked.
“Man 3 is on his way,” Garret answered, observing pieces of squad car raining down from the sky. “Are you sure you got the right person?”
“I said ‘Dorian Valentine, stand up,’ and she stood up. If she had only known that I had no idea what she looked like, she might still be around,” Nightshade replied.
“What did she look like?” Garret inquired.
“Black woman, mid-thirties, not very tall. Some might call her pretty, others might not.”
“We should have taken her,” Garret muttered.
“Why didn’t we?” Nightshade inquired.
“Devin wouldn’t allow it.”
“You know that we’re behind schedule,” she reminded him.
“It took an eon to find the plans,” Garret responded, looking at his watch. “Two forty,” he informed Olimpan.
Lugor hurried back to the truck. Though he didn’t need assistance, Vladimir Yakof and Demitri Liutoboets pulled him inside.
“Move in 20 seconds,” Garret instructed Olimpan while pulling off. He flicked the ambulance sirens on, maneuvered away from the two car skeletons, and pulled out and onto the city street. A moment later, he instructed Team F to exit.
In response, Team F activated another can of gas. This time, instead of green, the smoke was thick, black, and blinding. Under cover, Team F evacuated using the stairwell. The last one out, Aleksander Straz secured the escape by making sure there were no followers.
Garret sped down Massachusetts Avenue and merged off the New York Avenue ramp onto Interstate 395, heading toward the pick-up vehicle. Team A and Nightshade had changed clothes and were now looking like typical members of the American working class. Garret had picked the outfits himself and gone over them many times to make sure nothing was missing, like dress socks, ties, or anything that, if missing, would draw attention to them.
Rush hour was pretty much over. In the opposite direction toward D.C., it was still going on. They were covering pretty good distance. The speed limit was a meager 65 miles an hour, but Garret kept it steady at 75, keeping pace with the flow of traffic. Sixty-five miles an hour was like standing still. He knew a lot of the slower speed limits were set to affect gas consumption more than for safety reasons, but Garret did not break the flow of traffic. An ambulance already attracted enough attention.
Team F evacuated the building by going down into the receiving area, where they hopped into the back of a waiting garbage truck. The truck took off immediately and headed toward the rendezvous vehicle.
“All right.” Garret spoke into his wrist. “Meet back at the nest at oh-eleven hundred. Iceman out.” Satisfied, he disconnected the frequency.
Chapter 2
“What do you think?” Bryan Hughes, the Deputy Director of Science and Technology asked his colleague. His tone to the Executive Director of Intelligence was quiet and humble. The door was closed, and an electronic scrambler was already activated.
Walter Plack answered, already in mourning. “Very knowledgeable, with access to covert, advanced military weaponry. Extremely well trained, and very well funded. And between you and me, I know they had a lot of help with this one. Moscow continues to deny any connection to this event. The organization in question most definitely has ties to the underworld, or could be some elite terrorist organization, if such a thing truly exists.”
Hughes looked around the room in awe. He had never seen anything like the scene before his eyes at that very moment. The building was in disarray, with blood and bullet holes everywhere. Dead bodies were being carried out of the room with bowels leaking from the body bags. It looked like a massacre. It was a massacre, and Hughes was in a state of controlled but horrified shock.
“Have we received any ransom demands for the plans?” Gregory Hunt, the Deputy Director of Operations, asked.
“No. We don’t know if the plans ever existed. That’s what my brother was here for. Who governed security? I was told the area would be secured while Valentine was being interviewed,” Walter Plack said.
“All agents assigned to this operation have been lost, except one—Steven Price,” Hunt answered.
“Were you in charge of this operation?” Plack asked.
“Well—”
“Were you in charge of this?”
“Yes, I was,” Hunt lied. The truth was that Hunt had put the late Albert Plack in charge of the security operation; however, the timing for such a comment seemed slightly off. Hunt knew Plack would know the truth within the hour.
“Then what the hell happened? Why are all our agents dead? The one on the roof—dead! Jackson—dead! Roberts—dead! Steven Price—in the hospital, burned up. Dorian Valentine—dead! Franklin Turner—dead! My own brother—dead! Somebody tell me what the hell went on here! Who or what was behind this bloodbath? How did they know to go to the vault? Who the hell knew about the vault in this place, anyway? No one knows! And where is the editor in chief? Somebody get him in here! And I want a list of everyone who knew about the vault. They had to have help from the inside.”
“They had to have a lot of help,” Bryan Hughes whispered softly to his two colleagues. “These shells are from a TH-7000, the newest covert automatic rifle, and if what I think killed Frank and Valentine is really what killed them, we are in some trouble here.”
“So what are you saying, Dr. Science?” Plack asked dryly.
“I’m saying there is no way these weapons could be available on the black market. There aren’t even three dozen of them in existence worldwide.”
Plack was silent for several moments. “What do you think took out Valentine and Frank?”
“I can’t tell you here, guys. It’s that serious. I’ve also seen some shells of the Rex-329. It’s a fully automatic handgun.” Hughes pointed to the wall. “Those small holes clumped together are from the Rex. Look at the shells. They are less than half the size of a Beretta or any other type of handgun. The advantage is that you really can’t miss your target. The tiny bullets spread out upon explosion from the barrel. It’s somewhat like a tiny, fully automatic shotgun but, of course, not nearly as powerful. I’ve practiced extensively with the Rex on the range. I would know its mark anywhere.”
“I want a list of everyone who had access to either the Rex or the rifle, cross–referenced with the UB list. I want the list in my hands in one hour,” Plack instructed.
The UB list was a list of all CIA agents having Unusual Behavior documented on their surveillance files. This included an unusually large amount of one-minute phone calls, local or long distance; unusual elevator use; uncommon exits or entrances into the building not coinciding with a person’s work schedule; and unusual clothing or dress patterns revealed by the hidden surveillance cameras.
“There’s a slight problem, sir,” Hughes said to Plack.
“And what might that be?” Plack asked icily.
“I don’t know who has had access to the TH-7000.”
“You are the Deputy-fucking-Director of Science and Technology—and you don’t know who in the hell has had access to our top-secret projects?”
“I know your brother has just passed―”
“Passed? He didn’t pass. He was murdered, murdered in cold blood by our own top-secret weapons. How could you not know who has put their goddamned hands on the rifle!”
Hughes glanced at the scrambler to make sure it was functional before he answered. “It’s not our rifle, Walter,” Hughes replied.
“What?”
“The Rex-329 is ours, but the TH-7000 is a Russian project. We’re just trying to copy it. We haven’t even made one that works right yet.”
“You mean to tell me this group comes in here with our covert weapons and theirs?”
“It looks that way, sir,” Hughes replied. “And that’s only the beginning.”
“Cross the Rex people with the UB list and get back to me,” Plack responded. “It looks as if we have an international organization on our hands. Hunt, get me an ID on any organization that could have in any way pulled this off. You have one hour for American suspects and another two for Russian contacts.”
Dennis Garret, Kalisa Leonilla, and Devin sat in a moderate hotel room off the coast of the Atlantic, in Bethany Beach, Delaware, about 20 minutes from the Maryland state line. They were all ready for debriefing.
“Casualties in Team A?” Devin asked while looking over the helicopter plans.
“Zero,” Garret replied.
“Casualties in Team F, Nightshade?”
“Zero,” Kalisa replied.
“How much time?”
“Two forty for Team A,” Garret replied.
Devin grimaced. “Why the extra minute? You were told to leave the facility at 09:18. What was the problem?”
“Team A reported that the vault was more cluttered than anticipated,” Garret explained. “It took longer than we expected to locate the required documents. Not only that, but the cavalry was early.”
Devin scowled at Garret. “It takes three minutes from when the dispatcher sends the call to when the car will arrive at the operation site. Considering Team F cut the phone lines upon entering the building, you should have been out of there sixty seconds before any law enforcement officer would have been in the vicinity.”
“Nightshade and I pondered this matter during the trip here. We believe one of the reporters must have used a cellular phone. We could not put up a frequency scrambler and risk cutting off our own communication during the operation.”
“I see.”
There was an uneasy silence.
The boss turned to Kalisa. “Any problems?”
“Nothing I couldn’t handle,” she replied.
“How useful did the new equipment prove to be?”
“The TH–7000’s were splendid,” Kalisa answered. “They were able to neutralize any counter within one second, and that missile monster you gave us was also a success.”
“And the Vig?” Devin inquired.
“I’ve never seen its equal. The weapon is totally efficient. Its convenience and effectiveness are unmatched.”
“I’m glad they were worth the significant amount of money needed to acquire them,” Devin stated.
“One thing you might want to be aware of,” Kalisa offered.
“And what might this be, Nightshade?”
“The Rex-329s. Yes, they can hit anything you point at virtually without aiming, but they inconveniently need replenishing in a very short time.”
“That is why I issued you two of them,” Devin replied.
“I see, Devin. Ignorant of the disadvantage and to strengthen the fear element, one of the operatives felt the need to utilize both of them at the same time.”
“Tell him or her that this is not the movies. How did the new vests and the audio tuner operate?”
“I felt like Darth Vader with that thing on,” Kalisa replied.
“May the Force be with you,” Devin remarked blandly. “And Valentine?”
“Eliminated. It was pitiful, Devin. Such a nonthreatening woman. She had crawled behind a desk.”
“You’re breaking my heart. She placed her neck where it did not belong—in my country.”
“I still believe we should have acquired Valentine,” Garret stated. He knew better than to inquire about the AVLIS technology and how it ended up creating the weapons system in a helicopter.
“I explained before; I do the thinking. How complicated can that concept be, Garret?”
“I’m in agreement with Garret,” Kalisa added. “Valentine would have talked with the proper coercion. I’m positive of it.”
“Kidnapping Valentine would have complicated things considerably. She would have jeopardized our entire operation by any struggle she would have exercised. I could not risk Team F’s clean escape over a mere possibility that Valentine might reveal her source. The prime objective in this matter was to obtain the one and only copy of these post-nuclear helicopter plans. Team F was a decoy to get any and all roaming agents or security away from the authentic mission. The leak is not my problem. Do you understand this, Nightshade?”
“Yes, Devin, but I really don’t think she would have had any more to do with Operation Black Fox after the episode today. She would have remained silent.”
“What you think is irrelevant.”
“I appreciate your candidness,” Kalisa said.
“I wouldn’t have it otherwise,” Devin replied.
“I feel obligated to inform you that we had to neutralize some federal agents,” Kalisa reported.
“This was inevitable. I appreciate your veracity,” Devin muttered.
“I wouldn’t have it otherwise,” she replied.
Devin flashed a morbid smile. “Very well, dismissed,” he said, finally. “The rest I can hear about on the six o’clock news.”
Kalisa and Garret stood up, left Devin’s room together, and walked around the corner to their room. Oleg Lugor lay sprawled out on the bed, watching TV. The rest of Team A were in another hotel.
“Brilliantly executed, comrade,” Lugor complimented, getting up and hugging his childhood friend Dennis Garret.
They both sat down on the bed. They were both silent, but they had known each other too long not to know when the other was thinking about the Pit.
“You still think about it a lot, Oleg?” Garret asked.
“It was all I knew and is all I know,” Lugor replied.
“It’s still in my dreams, too,” Kalisa put in. “It is part of us. We cannot shake what we have lived for an eternity, Dennis.”
“Don’t ever call me that when we’re alone!” Reuban Zyablikov snapped. Throughout his life, Dennis Garret had owned almost no worldly possessions; but his real name was one, and it was sacred. It had been his since he created it, and yes, they could give him any name they wanted—switch it up along with his birthday at any time, and he’d better get it right if they asked him—but his name was his forever. It was a name he had given himself. It was the only link he had to some sort of identity, and he would cling to it as long as he was alive. The Pit was a place of unimaginable horror and punishment, where Zyablikov and his operatives had been trained from birth before being placed in America. A mere reflection on its events brought intense trepidation to the minds of the operatives.
“I’m sorry, Reuban,” Kalisa apologized. “It must be out of habit.”
“Please break the habit, sister.”
“Broken, brother.”
Kalisa Leonilla and Reuban Zyablikov were by no means maternal sister and brother, but in the Pit, one learned to grab family from only those who were worthy. Zyablikov remembered when he and Kalisa were thrown in the cold Russian wilderness for 48 hours without food, belongings, or water. Luckily, he found a small brook to camp by. In the frigid temperatures with no shelter, they engaged in sexual intercourse to keep from freezing. They were both fourteen.
He remembered groping around in the dark in the frigid air and among strange noises. He remembered Kalisa crying, and putting his arm around her.
Kalisa remembered the way he comforted her, the way he held her hand, and the way he would pick her up when she would stumble on the vast, icy whiteness. She remembered the things he said when she wanted to lay down and die and he would not let her. “Get up, sister!” he would yell. “Do you want to die like a dog?”
For the 48 hours they were in the snow, he was her salvation. They ate bark and leaves when they had to, and Kalisa always remembered the way Zyablikov braved the ice like a true champion, which is how everyone in the Pit had come to know him as the Iceman. The etymology for the name Zyablikov derived from the Russian term for iceman.
He remembered not only the physical stamina forced upon them from the Pit, but also the mental endurance. There were no clocks in the Pit, so time was only something to be wondered about. There were no calendars in the Pit during the early stages. Days and years were nothing. You knew a week had ended when you got to sleep until the sun was well in the sky. No birthdays were celebrated. Your birthday was when they told you it was, and they would switch it up every so often. Whatever the day, if one of the instructors asked you your birthday, it had better be off the tip of your tongue in one second or you would be taken away.
There were no outside telephone calls allowed, and no radio until you passed the third level. No real television until you passed the fifth level, and even then, you watched and listened to what you were told to watch and listen to. Zyablikov remembered his youth; everyone was stationed in front of a television to watch American cartoons such as The Smurfs and Transformers. He even remembered enjoying some of them. He guessed that the cartoons he was allowed to watch simulated his childhood.
At level seven or so, Vladimir Yakof, now known as A-2, secretly accessed the Internet to look at pornography. While on the Internet, he had the idea to search for a name for himself. He came across an etymology Web site. He printed some pages out, and from these pages, every member of the Pit chose a name for himself. The names were not ever to be repeated in public or around any instructor, but it helped hold their sanity, for a name provided some sort of identity and classification. Each name chosen was Russian, and even though none of the Pit students spoke Russian, they each knew it was their origin. The names were chosen according to each person’s characteristics or talents. Their names were the only secret they could keep among themselves, away from every instructor. Though Yakof remembered to clean the cache files and browser history on the computer, the network monitoring equipment the instructors used had caught his actions. They saw the pornography pages but never could figure out what he used the etymology for.
The Pit students chose each person’s last name. More specifically, each last name designated how the Pit students viewed that particular person. Each individual chose his or her own first name. The name-assigning process was entertaining, and several students became scarred with cruel or perhaps even hilarious names. The only rule was that once a name was voted on, it could not be changed. Zyablikov’s name meant “to freeze,” and was given to him mainly by Kalisa. Zyablikov nominated Kalisa’s last name, Leonilla, meaning “lioness.” It was given to her because of her aggressive and fearless nature. One instance in particular solidified this when she was thirteen. An academic instructor had ridiculed Kalisa in front of all the other students, and she became outraged. She rushed the instructor and tackled him on the spot. She clawed, punched, and kicked the man into unconsciousness while everyone rooted and cheered her on.
The instructor described the incident to the authorities before Kalisa was taken away. The instructor stated “she pounced upon me like a lioness,” and the name stuck with Kalisa just as soon as Zyablikov nominated it. Kalisa had chosen her first name to mean “beautiful,” pertaining to her physical attributes; however, her operational call sign, Nightshade, was granted for an aberrantly different reason. Three days a week, the individuals were tested on intelligence, and there was no cheating. Everyone had a different version of the tests. Zyablikov recalled one question he’d never forget: Test Number 2, Question 1: “Do you love your country?”
Zyablikov remembered looking up at his instructor. Do I love my country? he thought. Where is it? I haven’t seen it. All I see is this camp, this ice, and these cruel instructors. The only things I know about this world are those things I have been taught by your lying tongues and your biased textbooks. I can’t know what I love.
Though he didn’t want to, he circled yes, knowing there would be severe consequences if he did otherwise. He guessed he was about four or five when the first test was given. The question appeared on every test from then on, sometimes four and five times. No one could really read proficiently at that age, so Mr. Jefferson initially gave the tests orally.
Even during the earlier levels, everyone figured out that no instructor’s name was real; they just wanted everything American. Everyone spoke English, and anyone caught trying to learn Russian was taken away. Since birth, they were trained to be Americans. They learned American history, laws, traditions, culture, and religions. They knew twice as much about America as most Americans.
Not having much access to uncensored media in the Pit, neither Zyablikov nor his family had any knowledge of the political or economic deterioration existing outside of the Pit. Zyablikov first learned of the collapse of the Soviet Union when he was placed in America many years ago. To his team, everything had always been business as usual.
Zyablikov thought back to when his sister Kalisa was taken away during the third level, for getting fed up with that “Do you love your country?” question. On test number 243, the question appeared five times. On the fifth one, she bubbled in the letter B, as by this time, they had graduated from the oral tests to the written versions.
She was then taken away…to the Pound.
Apparently, she had been in total darkness for several days, for when she came back out, she couldn’t open her eyes around any source of light. For the first day, during the early evening, she cupped a hand over one of her eyes and squinted with the other one if she wanted to take a peek at something. One of the instructors thought this was hilarious and nicknamed her for it: Nightshade. The name stuck forever, along with the nightmare.
Collectively, they had no childhood. They had experienced no period of adolescence, nor did they have any understanding of the concept of parenthood. They had no parents or guardians, just Sergeant Majors, Lieutenants, Captains, and teachers who wouldn’t give them their real names if their lives depended on it. All students had American aliases, and by the twelfth level, they were all killing machines. None had ever had a Russian accent, nor could they even speak Russian. From the beginning to the present, they had been raised as Americans.
As far as intelligence, they were all among the 95th percentile or higher among American college graduates, but in matters of military strategic tactics and field combat, as a whole, they were absolutely unparalleled.
Devin leaned back and relaxed in his chair while he reviewed the Operation Black Fox plans. A splendid machine it was, indeed—not only capable of carrying, arming, and launching nuclear missiles, but also equipped to emit powerful nuclear energy pulses from incredible distances, pulses that were able to demolish small cities with one hit.
It also had stealth capabilities. Its unique design would allow radio waves to somehow pass over it. Devin estimated it would cost several hundred million dollars to build just a few, then several additional expenses for testing. Devin contemplated how a chopper could bounce through radio waves. He reflected on how horrifically dangerous an army of these choppers would be during an offensive assault. The battle could be won before the choppers got within eyesight. Devin reread Valentine’s article and wondered what possible proof she could have possessed that the helicopter was actually being built. He truly doubted there was a photo somewhere that had been taken of the several workers building the chopper, and then smuggled out of their top secret base. And even if there was, Valentine couldn’t possibly have afforded it. There could be no other source but an actual witness, and even that seemed unlikely. Why would a witness go to an American reporter? If the witness wanted money, he would either use blackmail or go to the CIA.
Either way, it was all in the past now. How the information got out of bounds was no longer his concern.
Devin closed his eyes and thought about Nightshade, the leader of Team F, the Special Forces team. She had black hair and beautiful brown eyes. She was athletic, intelligent, definitely sexy, and capable of killing on a moment’s notice. To get to her, he knew he would have to go through Garret. He knew nothing about Dennis Garret except that he was a man who could get things done. Also with black hair, fairly handsome, and with a rough-looking face, Garret had to be the same age as Nightshade, about 24 or 25. At about 5’11” and weighing close to 180 pounds, he was skilled in hand-to-hand combat as well as with knives and any gun you could think of. He was the most superior of the elite.
Devin thought about the captain of Team A, who was called A-1, or Oleg Lugor, by those who knew him. His personality set him apart. Words could not describe the depth of his uncontrolled viciousness. In appearance and in combat, Lugor was truly an ugly man. Devin was fearful of Lugor. As he thought about him, Devin involuntarily flinched.
The etymology of the name Lugor derives from Likhar, meaning “evil.” From childhood, many of the Pit’s members were afraid of Lugor. Since any one of them could remember, Lugor had been a silent, demonic assassin. He had attacked several of them for the most trivial of provocations during his youth and had attempted to take their lives using anything near him: a pencil in the neck or maybe a fork in the heart. Zyablikov used to joke with him, saying he needed to take a bath in holy water. As a young adult, Lugor was the first to volunteer in sparring or anything else that involved hurting or killing. He would often pull the legs off of large insects or chase and catch small animals and see what creative way he could devise to kill them. There seemed not a chance he would develop a conscience or any sort of morality; Lugor was a pure product of the environment he had been placed in. The only thing separating him from the others was that during his term in the Pit, he did not try to cling to any source of sanity. He let it all go and became what they wanted him to become.
The man was about 6’2” and weighed in at about 215 pounds but was as fast and as tough as an alley cat. Devin had seen classified tapes of Lugor sparring against fellow “classmates” in the Pit, and it was nightmarish.
The highly covert operation was intended to produce the perfect “American” soldiers, though more highly advanced in all areas. They would be used for the ultimate trinity: intelligence, espionage, and warfare. How had the operation fared? The word “success” was an understatement.
Devin knew that the individuals graduating from this operation had never met their parents. Their parents were told that their beloved sons or daughters had died shortly after birth at the hospital. These were not just any children; they were actually bred through a eugenic process. Tests were issued to physically superior males with high intelligence and knowledge of military tactics. Healthy women who fit the same category were given the same tests. The women were then artificially inseminated with the top scorers’ semen – sperm enhanced by a new form of biological technology and genetic engineering.
Devin also knew that any child who failed a level of the program more than once was terminated from the operation. He didn’t know exactly what happened to many of the children who flunked out, but Devin was quite sure it was not something to be envied. Out of the 25 children that were bred, 16 of them lived through the project to satisfactorily meet its requirements.
He thought back to Lugor’s aggressiveness and disregard for human life. Project Pit had created 16 highly intelligent human war machines—and under the right direction, he knew they were capable of absolutely anything. He pondered on the structure he led. Though all members were of absolute premium quality and trained in many areas of combat, each member was quite unique and had his or her own specialties. Devin had no clue of the names the Pit graduates had chosen for themselves, nor did he know the American aliases assigned to them. Only the Spymaster had the aliases and other key information. Only the Spymaster actually had the whole picture.
He knew Garret’s job was to keep track of and communicate with the operatives. With the exception of Nightshade and Lugor, Devin was unaware of who the other Pit operatives were. He had seen Lugor before when he served as a backup to the debriefing in case something happened to Garret and Nightshade but had never spoken to him. He could pass by any of the Pit creations in a grocery store and not know them. Still, he did know they were a powerful group.
Team A, the elite five of the 16, was trained in every form of combat that existed, as well as in marine warfare and scuba diving. Garret was even trained to operate a submarine. All members were physically superior in too many ways to sit and discuss and had been given the American SAT in the 9th and 10th levels, scoring at the highest levels. Team A contained the most highly advanced soldiers the world would ever see, which was why Garret was chosen to lead them. There were no females on Team A, though Nightshade was worthy.
There was A-2, Vladimir Yakof, known inside the Pit for his exceptional ability to decipher or “break” encrypted codes, sometimes using a computer program of his own design. Yakof had a deep knowledge of computers and was a whiz kid when it came to anything having to do with them.
A-3, Demitri Liutoboets, was a blonde-haired man with unique silent military combat skills, mainly knives, but not knives exclusively. Liutoboets once had an erection during a sparring match with Kalisa. This event spawned his last name, Liutoboets, meaning “hard fighter.” Liutoboets was also known in the Pit for standing strong in the field, with an uncanny ability to take down multiple enemies single-handedly.
A-4 was Gremis Nukludko, a master of explosives. Nukludko had always loved to create destructive combustible devices, hence the nickname Gremis, or Glorious Thunder. He created the explosive device that had opened the safe at the Washington Post. The name Nukludko was sprouted in the early stages of his Pit training, when he was assigned to the top bunk in the bedding hall. He would often roll off his bed, crashing onto the hard concrete floor. Despite his requests to switch to a bottom bunk, he was forced to sleep on the top bunk and teach himself to sleep like a log. Before this happened, however, Nukludko crashed to the floor during the night too many times to count. When he would fall, the guard would come in, snatch him up, and force him to stay awake the entire night, forever cursing him with the nickname “Restless.”
A-5 was Iake Tatomir , whose superior agility and knowledge of the human body’s weaknesses was unsurpassed within the team, except maybe by Garret, a true expert in all areas. A-5’s desire to fight for no apparent reason led to his given name, Tatomir, meaning “thief of peace” and Iake, meaning “strong.”
As Devin daydreamed of Nightshade and himself meeting in a different kind of life, Garret slipped back into his mind. He knew Garret was sent there to watch him, and that was why he would always know hardly anything about Garret. Everyone in Project Pit had authentic American names they were to use, complete with driver’s licenses, Social Security cards, and other documents needed to successfully maneuver in society. But Dennis Garret was different. Devin was told nothing about him except he was to be given direct control of Teams A, B, D, and F while Devin was to head Teams C, E, and G and plan and present all missions.
Team C was composed of several genuine Americans and was therefore totally expendable. It bothered Devin that Garret was to lead the invaluable units while he himself was in charge of the errand boys. The Americans knew nothing of what they were involved in, nor had they seen any faces. No matter—they had sold their country out a long time ago for dollars. It was the American way. The Americans were charged with small-time assignments and hits and with retrieving small intelligence within the hour such as the blueprints for this morning’s mission. Teams E and G did not physically exist but were created as a psychological tactic aimed at Garret. This tactic was supposed to keep absent any thoughts of Garret trying to run the operation by himself by preventing any speculation that he was running more than half the operation already, and it worked.
Devin didn’t even know what Team B’s function was. All he knew was that Garret was in charge of their operations, which frustrated Devin further. He imagined they might be pilots, or perhaps paratroopers, but he didn’t waste thought on it. He realized he would never know if he was correct or not.
Though Devin hadn’t been in combat for over twenty-six years, he was considered the top man in strategic planning for covert missions, and was compensated accordingly, but he had to make sure all teams remained ignorant of each other.
“Breaking news today with regards to the Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty,” the CNN reporter started. “Prime Minister Epifanii Yuklivitch is held under serious scrutiny after being accused of covering up the operation of a top-secret war machine. It seems the leader of the Strategic Offensive Reductions Treaty Commission has been the head of an intense hypocritical charade. He has strived to bring an end to all nuclear weapons in the United States while still secretly manufacturing new and innovative war machines in Russia. From past unethical behavior by KGB operatives, many key United States officials do assume that an extremely sinister and underhanded plot has been uncovered. They believe at this time that it is indeed Yuklivitch’s intention to have the U.S. dispose of its nuclear weapons before Russia attempts a series of offensive assaults on specific territories across the globe, possibly to control key world resources, including oil. Though this assumption has not yet been confirmed by military strategists, many do think it is more than likely.”
The screen then switched to a military spokesperson. “It is assumed that Yuklivitch did, indeed, know about Operation Black Fox while at the same time pushing the SORT forward. Yes, I do think he should be punished severely for playing on the benevolence of our nation.”
The screen switched back to the CNN reporter. “Most military powers share this opinion of the situation—”
Bryan Hughes turned off his handheld TV and continued to create his list of technological suspects.
“When did Valentine give you the story about Operation Black Fox?” Gregory Hunt asked the editor in chief of the Washington Post. The editor was still a little flabbergasted from the morning’s incident.
“Last night…about twelve thirty or so. Maybe one o’clock. I was here finishing up some editing.”
“What did she say, exactly?” Hunt asked.
“She explained to me that she had gotten hold of some evidence that Russia was constructing a top-secret helicopter. I asked to see the evidence, and she showed me the plans.”
“You saw the plans?”
“Yes, I did. I couldn’t print an article like that without seeing the evidence for myself. I saw three separate pictures of three different pieces of paper. They looked like helicopters I had never seen before. After I saw them, I told her to put them in the vault. She was escorted to the vault by night guards and me.”
“Where are the guards?”
“They work the night shift. They are probably home sleeping right now. Neither of them knew what was being put in the vault. All they saw was a brown envelope and a roll of film.”
“Has the vault ever been broken into before?”
“No.”
“Who knows about the vault?”
“No one, until last night. I was worried that a document of that significance should be protected and taken out of her hands for her own safety. She wanted to keep it, but I insisted on locking it up.”
“So until last night, no one knew about the evidence vault.”
“No. Definitely not. I usually put everything in there myself.”
“Did Valentine have any copies?”
“Definitely not. That is why she put up such a fuss to take the pictures home with her. She is very adamant when she wants—” There was a sudden, solemn pause from the editor, then he continued. “I mean, she was very adamant when she wanted her way. I finally convinced her to leave them in the vault…she didn’t want to.”
“And you say Valentine approached you with the story around midnight?”
“No, it was twelve thirty, one o’clock.”
Hunt was just checking. He switched off the microcassette recorder.
“Thank you, sir. We will contact you if we need any more information. You are not to leak to anyone what Valentine gave you, do you understand?”
“What about freedom of speech?” the editor asked.
“If you utter one word about what you have told us, you won’t see the inside of a courtroom, and I can promise you will end up like Valentine. Do you understand there are people looking to silence anyone who knows what they are not supposed to?”
The editor nodded.
Hunt turned back to Bryan Hughes, who was talking with some of the witnesses, getting a description of the weapons that had been used and the sounds they had made.
“Green smoke?” he asked the witness.
“Uh huh.”
“Did it have a smell?”
“It smelled like smoke.”
“Did it affect you? Did it make your eyes water, or make you want to regurgitate? Did it make you sleepy or put you in a state of euphoria?”
“It was horrible. I remember I couldn’t breathe, but I don’t remember much else.”
“Are you sure?”
“Yes. The one thing I do know is that even though the smoke was spreading out, thinning, I still couldn’t breathe.”
“Thank you, sir. I might be talking to you later,” Hughes replied, happy to get away from this intellectually challenged witness.
Walter Plack walked up to Hughes, who was now standing by Hunt. He jerked his head toward a private office. The frequency scrambler was already set up. Plack addressed the men. “We need to get all the witnesses to our nearest secured facility for in-depth interviews as soon as possible.”
“I don’t think that would do any good, Walter,” Hughes replied.
“And why is that?”
“I believe the green smoke all the witnesses refer to is some sort of memory-altering chemical. With the help of the local detectives, Gregory and I have interviewed every witness in here who saw anything. They all really don’t remember anything. I mean, nothing at all. I was asking around, trying to get a positive ID on the description of the Rex, and the TH–7000―”
“You asked civilians for descriptions of top-secret weapons?” Plack interrupted.
“I didn’t give any specifics. Besides, it doesn’t look as if they’re so top secret to these witnesses after this morning, now, does it?”
Plack thought about his brother and remained silent. It would only be a matter of time before they tried to yank the case out from under his jurisdiction with some garbage about how it wasn’t ethical to have someone with personal ties on the case. But for now, he was not answering his ComLink.
He remembered the inscription in the foyer of his headquarters: Ye Shall Seek the Truth and the Truth Will Make You Free.
And the truth he would seek, at all costs.
“Continue, Bryan,” Plack uttered.
“Well, it looks as if the green gas was definitely not lethal but contained some kind of memory-altering, anti-recall substance. I wish I could get a sample, but it’s already evaporated. I rounded up all of the gas canisters, hoping there might be a trace of chemicals lingering. Most of the witnesses, the ones who remember anything worth mentioning, indicated the gas erupted from several sources.”
“Anything else?”
“Actually, yes. While the anti-recall chemical in the gas was taking effect, the green smoke also temporarily neutralized all potential heroes from coming to action. They say it blinded them and choked them. And now, when they recover, they can hardly remember anything significant. One witness said he thought they were robots.”
“Do either of you have any good news?”
“Yes,” Hunt answered, “one fact remains consistent. Ninety percent of the witnesses say there were five people, dressed in all black, with gas masks over their faces. That’s about the only thing any of these witnesses say they can be sure of. I do not think polygraph tests will be effective in the least, because most of them barely remember anything. In-depth interviews will be a waste of time also, except one guy says he remembers everything. I brought him up on the civilian files, and turns out he’s an ex-Marine, honorably discharged from a helicopter training accident in ’99. He’s also a swimmer.”
“What was he doing here?”
“He had an interview.”
“Who interviewed the editor in chief?” Plack asked.
“I did, Walter,” Hunt replied.
“What time did he say that Valentine brought him the plans?”
“He said he saw them about twelve thirty, one o’clock.”
“Twelve thirty, one o’clock? How the hell did someone plan this entire operation in less than nine hours?” Plack asked his colleagues and himself. “How can an organization like this infiltrate our country and we not know about it? I want records of every flight that took off and landed within the last 24 hours. They had to get here from somewhere, somehow! I want statements from anyone who was around the building. Does anyone even know how the hell they walked out of here? Jesus Christ! It’s as if they vaporized into thin air! Hunt, what did they do, fly out of here in a jumbo jet? Somebody get me some answers, and include how in the hell anyone could plan and execute this in nine hours!”
“I was speculating maybe someone else knew before that. Maybe Valentine told someone she knew, or maybe her source leaked the information to multiple sources,” Hunt said.
Suddenly, all three heads looked up from their hushed conversation.
“Here come Barnum and Bailey,” Hughes informed his colleagues.
“Great, when do we get to be on Hard Copy?” Hunt put in, devoid of any enthusiasm.
“FBI: Fucking Bureau of Idiots,” Plack mumbled grimly.
Entering the small office was the notorious Special Agent Bruce Wallace, from the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The word “covert” did not exist in his vocabulary. His name was always in the papers, detailing some big case he had solved. He still lived off his big terrorist bust of 1988, during which he brought down the Libyan terrorist ring that had sent bomb threats to JFK Airport, halting flights for over three days. In 1998, with the DEA’s help, he also brought down the Colombian drug lord, Carlos Mendez, who happened to be a diplomat. Topping it off, he also claimed to have a significant part in the Al Qaeda investigations.
He thought his intelligence transcended that of the mere mortals around him, and he let everyone know it. With him were two other men.
“Hello, Agent Wallace,” Plack uttered dryly.
“You might as well call me Bruce. All the reporters do,” Wallace replied with a smile. Plack did not smile back.
Wallace offered a hand. Plack slowly extended his arm and gave a terse, unfriendly handshake, as if Wallace had leprosy.
“Sorry to hear about your brother. Are you sure you’re up to working on this case?”
“I’ll be fine,” Plack replied.
“Well, the sooner we catch these bastards, the better. I have been asked by the mayor of this city to come here and assist your investigation in any way possible.”
“Thank you, but we really are taking care of things,” Hunt said.
“Well, the last time I checked, any matter pertaining to national security, terrorism, or organized crime warranted the involvement of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. By the way, is this your idea of Homeland Security?”
“Listen,” Plack growled, “if you come waltzing in here with that cocky attitude, continue, and I will personally teach you the definition of humility. If you knew what kind of organization you are dealing with here, and what just happened, you would wipe that goddamn gorilla smile off your face! And who are these guys?”
“These fine agents with me are Special Agent Marcus Thorn and Special Agent Laurence Acclaim.”
Plack looked the two young men over and inwardly groaned. Oh Christ, it’s amateur hour, he thought.
“I’m Bryan Hughes, Deputy Director of Science and Technology,” Hughes said, breaking the icy silence. “Very shortly, I will have some vitally important information for you on the weapons used this morning. They are not from your average arsenal. I urge you to review it carefully.”
“Thank you, Bryan,” Wallace said, offering a hand.
Bryan shook it to make peace, but he didn’t care for Bruce Wallace any more than his colleagues did. Wallace had nearly ruined numerous operations by “assisting in any way possible.”
“What happened, exactly?” Wallace asked.
Gregory Hunt gave the three agents a brief rundown of what had happened.
“Do we know yet what or who took out Frank Turner and Valentine?”
“Not yet,” replied Hughes. The two younger men did not have high enough clearance for him to explain what had really killed Valentine and Turner.
“Do you think Russia is behind this?” Wallace asked.
“Yes,” Plack answered.
“What about another country―or terrorist organization?”
“Do you think another country would even dream of coming into our borders illegally and executing a mission like this over alleged helicopter plans? Whoever performed this job knew for a fact that the plans would be here.”
“Then why do you call them alleged?” Wallace asked.
“Because no one standing here has seen them, except for the editor in chief. One civilian is all we have at this point.”
“Valentine wouldn’t talk?” Wallace asked.
Plack responded dryly. “No.”
“Why do you think she was taken out?” Wallace asked.
“I suspect it was to silence her.”
“You suspect?”
“Yes.”
“Central Intelligence, huh?” This was a mumble from Wallace.
Plack remained silent.
“I would ask how an organization like this would find its way into the capital of our nation without your knowing about it, but the fact is, I don’t think they found their way anywhere,” Wallace continued.
“Go on,” Plack invited.
“Now that I have your attention, I will tell you that they didn’t have to go far.”
“Get to the point.”
“I think they were already here.”
Plack thought for a minute.
Wallace continued, “Branching off your theory that Russia is behind this, which may or may not be correct, the organization had nine hours to plan and execute this assignment. Given that the travel time from here to Russia is at least nine or ten hours, top speed, it would have been impossible for them to pull it off, even if they had planned the whole caper on the flight over and moved as soon as they got their intelligence. What do we know about the bomb that opened the vault?”
Hughes spoke up. “One word: professional. The item used to set it off was impacted inside the explosive so the arming device would vaporize. Brilliantly crafted. There is absolutely nothing to analyze or trace. Had to be an explosive specialist. The best.”
“What are you, a fan of his?” Wallace asked with a conceited smirk.
“How do you know it is a he?” Hughes retorted. “Do you play poker with him?”
“I was under the impression I would have full cooperation from your agency,” Wallace stated.
“Forgive us for not rolling out the red carpet like you’re used to, Bruce, but my brother and our coworkers have just been murdered,” Plack growled.
“All right,” Wallace started, “I’m going to check the possibility of an inside connection. I’ll gather the witnesses’ testimonies, and my team will send you our profiles of any organization able to pull off a job like this. I’ll also check relative accounts and search for significant financial increases. Is there any additional information I should know about?”
“Yes,” Plack stepped in. “I heard about what happened with several of your cases where you didn’t keep your mouth shut. This case is classified! If I hear a peep from those reporters about you, this case is mine. Since we both want the bad guys, we will work together. Any time you talk about this case to one of your men, take and activate the scrambler. Do you trust these two men with your life?”
“Yes, I do,” Wallace said solemnly.
“Okay, then, information about this case is not to go beyond the six men you see standing here.”
“That is understood. I assume the same code applies at your agency,” Wallace replied.
“You definitely don’t have to worry about us,” Plack assured him.
With a conciliatory nod, Wallace turned and, with his men, left the room.
Chapter 3
Safe at home, in the darkness, Reuban Zyablikov turned on the television. He did not want to live like this for another day, and yet it was his reason for existing. It was why he had been created.
He knew more about the Pit project than he was supposed to, but they had to let him in on the juice, considering they wanted him to lead three of the seven teams. He knew that he was, in some ways, like a science project, but in other ways like the Million Dollar Man, running a billion-dollar operation. He never received a dime, but he knew it was in keeping with the philosophy of the Pit; rich people attracted attention. He closed his eyes and turned his thoughts back to the Pit, tuning out the noise of the small television.
“Faster, Dennis, harder!” Sergeant Brown would yell during sparring matches. “You want to knock someone down with that punch? You fight like a baby girl, you maggot!”
Zyablikov remembered Sergeant Brown pushing his sparring partner out of the way and stepping into the circle. “Come on, Garret. Knock me down!” Sergeant Brown was 6’5” and weighed 230 pounds, and his scary eyes bulged while he barked like a madman. Reuban didn’t move. His class had stopped sparring and turned around to see the confrontation, remaining silent.
“Are you scared, little girl?”
Reuban threw his small fist into Brown’s testicles and then pushed him onto the thin mat with as much force as his nine-year-old muscles could muster. He got ready for a battle. Brown lurched backwards but recovered and sent a foot to Zyablikov's face, causing him to stumble backwards—but Zyablikov refused to fall.
Blood flowed from Zyablikov’s mouth onto his chin. He wiped it off with the back of his hand but continued moving, as he had been instructed to do since his first day of hand-to-hand training.
Brown threw a quick right and snapped it back with the speed of light. Zyablikov saw a flash of light when the punch impacted his face, and he stumbled backwards again. Before he could regain his stance on the mat, Zyablikov was in the air. Brown had quickly crept in and slid his forearm in between the little boy’s legs, and scooped him up. To the audience, Brown looked like a tumbling acrobat. Still moving like lightning, Brown twisted himself while sliding to the ground, throwing the young Zyablikov to the mat on his back with a thud. Brown then smashed his fist into Zyablikov’s chest with a loud and authoritative “Yah!”
Zyablikov lay on the mat, holding his chest, tears in his eyes. Brown arched his back and was on his feet. The audience was amazed at how quick their instructor was.
“Don’t stop!” he yelled, pointing at the gasping Zyablikov. “Don’t ever stop! When you stop to rest, your opponent gains strength. When you hit, hit hard! Every blow counts! Don’t stop until your opponent stops breathing! Never stop! You think a kick in the balls will stop a man? You’re lucky if you even get a clean hit! When your opponent is stumbling, hit the throat like I’ve taught you! Timothy, get in here!”
Groza Hidislav, presently D-1 and captain of the Marine Combat Team, stepped into the circle while Zyablikov slowly got to his feet.
“Timmy! Show this man how it’s done.”
Zyablikov knew Hidislav had once seriously injured a classmate in a sparring match and, even though only nine, didn’t hesitate when it came to using kill spots.
Before Brown’s command was completed, Hidislav was upon Zyablikov. Hidislav’s arms swung wildly while he shouted “Arggh” with every swing. Zyablikov was quick and maneuvered around his punches, bobbing his head when he needed to. Hidislav swung with authority and became angrier every time he missed. Zyablikov dove at Hidislav, knocking him to the ground. Then, without thinking, Zyablikov formed his hand into a V and threw the V into his classmate’s neck with aggressive force.
Hidislav gurgled noisily as Zyablikov repeatedly rammed his fist into his opponent’s testicles. Hidislav squirmed and writhed but refused to scream. As Brown had told them, a scream told your opponent he was winning; it was inspiration. Scream only when you land a blow, he instructed. Screamers had been put in the Pound.
Brown saw Hidislav’s pain but did not stop the fight. He watched the two nine-year-olds fight like savage dogs. Zyablikov shouted with every blow, like Brown always did, but his punches got harder with every strike. The nine-year-old audience did not cringe at the raw battle, nor were they shocked that Brown did not blow his whistle.
“All right, Garret. You fought your way out of the Pound.”
Zyablikov nodded. He would have died in the Pound.
Still at the mind-boggling crime scene, Gregory Hunt opened his laptop and typed in his e-mail password. After the computer verified the password and an additional authorization code, then a retinal scan, Hunt was allowed to retrieve his messages after his application, “The Crypt” decrypted the coded information. There was a message from the National Security Council stating possible motives and organizations for such an operation as the one they were working to uncover. The data was in order of probability, as usual:
1) The Rebellion—Covert American terrorist organization. Led by Robert Lawton Baker. Highly dedicated members, advanced technology, deep underground connections. Suspected connection with the 1996 Olympic Airlines bombing in Atlanta, Georgia. Funding: random kidnappings, terrorist governments, several unknown sources, and robberies overseas. Estimated number of members: 40. Public enemy number: 2. Motive: Blackmail Russian Federation, form alliance, or possibly jeopardize the SORT conference. Founded: 1987. Probability level:
32.713%.
2) Al Qaeda, “The Base”—Hardcore international terrorist group. Led by Osama Bin Laden and Muhammad Atef. An international terrorist group, dedicated to opposing non-Islamic governments with force and violence. One of the principle goals of Al Qaeda is to drive the United States armed forces out of Saudi Arabia (and elsewhere on the Saudi-Arabian Peninsula) and Somalia by violence. Known for the 2001 September 11th terrorist activities, conspiracy to kill U.S. nationals, bombing of several U.S. embassies. Funding: private donations laundered through banks and charities. Estimated number of members: unknown (hundreds). Public enemy number: 1. Motives: Revenge, mercenary incomes, incite war against the United States. Founded: approximately 1989. Probability level: 21.304%.
3) Ironmen—Mercenary terrorist group. Led by Ali Gobril Megran, former Director of Center for Strategic Studies, also head of security for Libyan Arab Airlines; and Karman Hasifa Ghiman, Libyan male intelligence officer operating under the cover of Libyan Arab Airlines. Both responsible for the Pan Am bombing which exploded over Lockerbie, Scotland, killing 259 passengers and crew members in addition to 11 Lockerbie villagers. Both fugitives wanted by Interpol and for the killing of U.S. nationals. Ironmen are an infamous terrorist freelance organization available to pull jobs for the right fee. Ironmen are not known to have access to advanced technology. Funding: They receive full support and refuge from the Libyan government. Estimated number of members: 55. Public enemy number: 3. Motive: Under Russian hire to avoid international incident, and mercenary motive. Founded: 1980. Probability level: 16.304%.
4) Brotherhood of Longhorn—Mercenary terrorist group. Led by Hans "Longhorn" Badenburg. Badenburg was born in Heidelberg, Germany and is a former German BND agent known to carry a sword cane. Longhorn is notorious for recruiting foreign agents and subsidizing foreign political campaigns and has been known to arrange for the assassination of problematic foreign leaders. Group members have knowledge of weapons and poisons. Known for shooting the kneecaps off victims and watching them bleed to death. Funding: Longhorns wanted in connection with the $7 million security corporation heist. Estimated number of members: 20. Public enemy number: 4. Motive: Political advantage or mercenary motive. Founded: 1979. Probability level: 11.622%.
5) Novus Ordo Mundi—Covert society. Led by person or persons unknown. Formerly known as the Order of Perfectibilists or the Bavarian Illuminati. Novus Ordo Mundi is an extremely diabolical, secret society composed mostly of high upper-class citizens who occasionally refer to themselves as the Power Elite. Maintain an oath of secrecy. The organization aggressively plots a global conspiracy for world domination by way of an installation of a New World Sovereignty or a “Federal World Government.” Group members also quietly fight for dynamic control of international banks for corrupt purposes, approaching the last steps to monopolize the monies of the world. Funding: not necessary; many known members are billionaires. Ability to purchase advanced technology. Estimated number of members: unknown. Public enemy number: 8. Motives: To sell plans to the highest bidder. Founded: Approximately 1960 by Adam Weishaupt. Probability Level: 9.361%.
Due to base distance and the Central Intelligence reports recently received from all field agents, the National Security Council places all known Russian military forces remotely low in the probability of executing the Washington Post operation in Washington, D.C. Within the required time to execute the operation, no known flights had arrived in the airspace of any U.S. civilian or military airports inside the alert radius. All radar and satellite reports within the last 120 hours detected zero related Russian military or civilian-vessel movement within U.S. land, air, or sea territory. All covert agents have also reported no relevant aggressive movement or planning against the United States.
Hunt quickly reread the file, then wrote down the probability levels backwards along with his shorthand code chosen for each organization. Next, as he closed the file, it permanently deleted itself with its implanted security virus. He activated his frequency scrambler and called Plack through his ComLink, which was immune to the scrambler waves. The ComLink resembled a typical PDA, so it was easy enough to carry and use. Hunt also liked the biometric security features on the device, such as the handprint grid. However, since the ComLink was the major communications link between most field agents, the agency did not allow any customization of the ComLink. This didn’t bother Hunt, though. He wasn’t much for ringtones, pictures, and “brickbreaker” games.
He saw there was a message from the Public and Agency Information Department on the ComLink as he picked it up.
He pressed “Receive” and again checked the scrambler to make sure it was activated, as the message was deemed Classified.
The public will be informed that a terrorist organization attempted to kidnap Dorian Valentine in lieu of her recent article, and then eliminated her, as she would not submit without struggle. You and all agents are to act accordingly externally. Internally, proceed as needed.
Hunt then depressed the red button on his ComLink, and the message was erased. He dialed Plack’s ComLink code and prepared to give him an update.
__________________________________-____________________________________
Oleg Lugor sat in the dark in his small apartment in New Jersey. It wasn’t dark enough. He lay on his small weight bench and closed his eyes. He pushed the weight up and off the vertical safety bars and began lifting, not once opening his eyes. Eyes closed, Lugor was “looking” around his apartment. He “saw” the television and knew it was still on Channel 10, where he had left it before he was contacted. Eyes still closed, he imagined his American DVD player and its library of American movies he hardly watched. Even his old VHS tapes were still half rewound, to keep the act going. No other movies were allowed in his house, and he knew they checked on him. He knew Zyablikov was required to check on him and eliminate him if things were out of line.
Lugor continued pushing the weights off his chest rapidly. Without checking the amount before he got on, he knew he was lifting 225 pounds. “Twenty…twenty-one…” Lugor counted, not breaking pace or sweating. His mind drifted.
“Lift, Sam!” Coach Stephan shouted as Oleg struggled to lift the black handles on the high-tech bench press machine. “Lift! Your body doesn’t want to lift it! Your mind does, Sam! Push with your mind; your body will follow! Your body is tired; your mind is strong! Push, Sam!”
Oleg pushed until the handles started to go up. His arms were on fire and his shoulders burned as the lactic acid built up and blood rushed much-needed oxygen back to his muscles. His face was red. His pectoral muscles were visibly shaking.
“Push! The mind is powerful!”
With a loud exhale, Oleg shoved the weight upward, and the red light on the machine turned green.
“Recover.”
Hearing the word, Oleg let go of the handlebars and dropped his arms to his sides, panting.
There was no “Good job, Sam” or “I knew you could do it,” just a small nod. But everyone was used to it. Never a “Congratulations” or any recognition whatsoever for anything. It was another way the Pit hardened their hearts.
Combat was all Lugor knew. Sometimes, he thought he was addicted to killing. He was not only taught to kill but also bred to kill. The only time he got to see his associates was when it was for the good of an operation. The only time he was allowed to leave his specified radius was when he was to track a target. He was conditioned to ignore his conscience to the point that he no longer had one. He had been taught to pull a gun at point-blank range and not aim for the head like in the movies, but at the neck, then the head. He used this double tap, since he had seen bullets enter the head, curve around the skull, and then exit out the other side to injure an innocent bystander while the target still lived. His whole life was centered on the missions. He was created to kill, and he had learned to live with it. At times his muscles would convulse and quiver if his need to attack was not fed. This drove him to the art of shadowboxing.
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